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(see International Flight Information 
Manual, Federal Aviation Administra-
tion); or 

(2) Directly to the Customs officer in 
charge at the Miami International Air-
port, Miami, Florida; the John F. Ken-
nedy International Airport, Jamaica, 
New York; or the Los Angeles Inter-
national Airport, Los Angeles, Cali-
fornia, whichever is applicable. 

(c) Contents of notice. The advance no-
tice of arrival shall state: 

(1) Type of aircraft and registration 
number; 

(2) Name of aircraft commander; 
(3) Number of U.S. citizen passengers; 
(4) Number of alien passengers; 
(5) Place of last foreign departure; 
(6) Estimated time and location of 

crossing the U.S. coast or border; and 
(7) Estimated time of arrival. 
(d) Private Aircraft. In addition to 

these requirements, private aircraft 
must also give notice of arrival pursu-
ant to § 122.22 of this part. 

[T.D. 88–12, 53 FR 9292, Mar. 22, 1988, as 
amended by T.D. 99–71, 64 FR 53628, Oct. 4, 
1999; CBP Dec. 08-43, 73 FR 68313, Nov. 18, 
2008] 

§ 122.155 Document to be presented 
upon arrival. 

Upon arrival, the aircraft commander 
shall present: 

(a) A manifest of all passengers on 
board, as required by the U.S. Immi-
gration and Naturalization Service 
pursuant to 8 CFR 231.1(b), to an officer 
of the U.S. Immigration and Natu-
ralization Service or to a Customs offi-
cer acting as an Immigration officer; 

(b) The documents required by sub-
part E of this part. 

§ 122.156 Release of passengers. 
No passengers arriving from Cuba by 

aircraft will be released by Customs, 
nor will the aircraft be cleared or per-
mitted to depart before the passengers 
are released by an officer of the Immi-
gration and Naturalization Service or 
by a Customs officer acting on behalf 
of that agency. 

§ 122.157 Documents required for 
clearance. 

As a condition precedent to clear-
ance, the aircraft commander shall 
present to Customs: 

(a) The documents required by Sub-
part H of this part; and 

(b) A validated license issued by the 
Department of Commerce, as provided 
for in 15 CFR 371.19 or a license issued 
by the Department of State, as pro-
vided in 22 CFR part 123. 

§ 122.158 Other entry and clearance re-
quirements. 

All other provisions of this part re-
lating to entry and clearance of air-
craft are applicable to aircraft subject 
to this subpart. 

Subpart P—Public Aircraft 
[Reserved] 

Subpart Q—Penalties 

§ 122.161 In general. 

Except as provided in subpart S of 
this part, any person who violates any 
Customs requirements stated in this 
part, or any regulation that applies to 
aircraft under § 122.2, is, in addition to 
any other applicable penalty, subject 
to civil penalty of $5,000 as provided by 
19 U.S.C. 1644 and 1644a, except for 
overages, and failure to manifest nar-
cotics or marihuana, in which cases the 
penalties set forth in section 584, Tariff 
Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. 1584) 
apply, or for failure to report arrival or 
to present the documents required by 
§ 122.27(c) of this part in which cases 
the penalties set forth in section 436, 
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 
U.S.C. 1436) apply, and any aircraft 
used in connection with any such viola-
tion shall be subject to seizure and for-
feiture, as provided for in the Customs 
laws. A penalty or forfeiture may be 
mitigated under part 171 of this chap-
ter. 

[T.D. 91–61, 56 FR 32086, July 15, 1991, as 
amended by T.D. 98–74, 63 FR 51289, Sept. 25, 
1998] 

§ 122.162 Failure to notify and explain 
differences in air cargo manifest. 

(a) Application. Penalties shall be as-
sessed if differences in an air cargo 
manifest (overages or shortages) are 
discovered and: 

(1) The required notice and expla-
nation are not made in time; 
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(2) The port director is not satisfied 
that the differences were caused by 
clerical error or other mistake; 

(3) There has been a loss of revenue 
to the U.S.; or 

(4) The port director is not satisfied 
that there was a valid reason for delay 
in reporting any differences. 

(b) Definition. Under this section, 
‘‘clerical error or other mistake’’ 
means a non-negligent, inadvertant, or 
typographical mistake in the prepara-
tion, assembly, or submission (elec-
tronically or otherwise) of the mani-
fest. 

(c) Repeated differences. If repeated 
differences are found in manifests filed 
by the same person, it may be deter-
mined that the differences were a re-
sult of negligence and not clerical 
error or other mistake. 

(d) Knowledge. A penalty may be as-
sessed for differences in a manifest 
that are unknown to the aircraft com-
mander or owner. 

[T.D. 88–12, 53 FR 9292, Mar. 22, 1988, as 
amended by T.D. 99–64, 64 FR 43266, Aug. 10, 
1999] 

§ 122.163 Transit air cargo traveling to 
U.S. ports. 

(a) Application. If transit air cargo is 
traveling from the port of arrival to 
another U.S. port under § 122.119, a li-
ability shall be assessed, as set out in 
§ 18.8 of this chapter if there has been: 

(1) Shortage in delivery; 
(2) Irregular delivery; or 
(3) Non-delivery. 
(b) Liabilities assessed. The liabilities 

assessed under this section are imposed 
as liquidated damages under a carrier’s 
bond. 

(c) Value of merchandise. The port di-
rector shall determine the value of 
merchandise for assessment purposes 
based on the following factors: 

(1) Any data or documents available 
to the airline which presented a receipt 
for the transit air cargo, and available 
to the importing airline relating to the 
description and value of the cargo; and 

(2) Other information available to the 
port director relating to the same or 
similar merchandise. If the data or 
documents required by this section are 
not submitted within 90 days of the 
date requested, the port director shall 
determine value on the basis of other 

available information. The transit air 
cargo manifest does not reflect value. 

§ 122.164 Transportation to another 
port for exportation. 

If transit air cargo is traveling from 
the port of arrival to another U.S. port 
for later exportation, any liquidated 
damages for shortages or irregular de-
livery shall be assessed as provided in 
§ 122.163. 

§ 122.165 Air cabotage. 
(a) The air cabotage law (49 U.S.C. 

41703) prohibits the transportation of 
persons, property, or mail for com-
pensation or hire between points of the 
U.S. in a foreign civil aircraft. The 
term ‘‘foreign civil aircraft’’ includes 
all aircraft that are not of U.S. reg-
istration except those foreign-reg-
istered aircraft leased or chartered to a 
U.S. air carrier and operated under the 
authority of regulations issued by the 
Department of Transportation, as pro-
vided for in 14 CFR 121.153, and those 
aircraft used exclusively in the service 
of any government. 

(b) Customs officers detecting pos-
sible violations shall report the matter 
to Headquarters, Attention: Entry Pro-
cedures and Carriers Branch. Liability 
should not be assessed under 49 U.S.C. 
Chapter 463 pending instructions from 
Headquarters since certain limited do-
mestic transportation by foreign civil 
aircraft is permitted under regulations 
issued by the Department of Transpor-
tation. 

[T.D. 88–12, 53 FR 9292, Mar. 22, 1988, as 
amended by T.D. 98–74, 63 FR 51289, Sept. 25, 
1998; T.D. 99–27, 64 FR 13675, Mar. 22, 1999] 

§ 122.166 Arrival, departure, discharge, 
and documentation. 

(a) Liability for civil penalties. Except 
as otherwise provided, any aircraft 
pilot violation of the requirements of 
section 433, Tariff Act of 1930, as 
amended, (19 U.S.C. 1433), with respect 
to the following actions shall be liable 
for civil penalties as provided by sec-
tion 436, Tariff Act of 1930, as amended 
(19 U.S.C. 1436), and described in para-
graph (c) of this section: 

(1) Advance notification of arrival; 
(2) Report of arrival; 
(3) Landing of aircraft; 
(4) Presentation of documentation; 
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(5) Departure from the port, place, or 
airport of arrival without authoriza-
tion; or 

(6) Discharge of passenger, or mer-
chandise (to include baggage) without 
authorization. 

(b) Liability for criminal penalties. 
Upon conviction, any aircraft pilot vio-
lating any of the Customs require-
ments described in paragraph (a) of 
this section shall, in addition to civil 
penalties be subject to criminal pen-
alties as set forth in section 436, Tariff 
Act of 1930, as amended, (19 U.S.C. 
1436), and described in paragraph (c) of 
this section. If the aircraft has or is 
discovered to have had on board any 
merchandise (other than the equiva-
lent, for a vessel, of sea stores) the im-
portation of which into the U.S. is pro-
hibited, that person shall be subject to 
an additional fine as set forth in 19 
U.S.C. 1436 and described in paragraph 
(c) of this section. 

(c) Civil and criminal penalties de-
scribed—(1) Civil penalty. The pilot of 
any aircraft who fails to comply with 
the requirements of this section is lia-
ble for a civil penalty of $5,000 for the 
first violation, and $10,000 for each sub-
sequent violation. Any aircraft used in 
connection with any such violation is 
subject to seizure and forfeiture. 

(2) Criminal penalty. In addition to 
the civil penalty prescribed for viola-
tion of this section, the pilot of any 
aircraft who intentionally fails to com-
ply with the requirements of this sec-
tion is liable, upon conviction, for a 
fine of not more than $2,000 or impris-
onment for 1 year, or both. If the air-
craft is found to have, or to have had, 
on board any merchandise the importa-
tion of which is prohibited, such indi-
vidual is liable for an additional fine of 
not more than $10,000 or imprisonment 
for not more than 5 years, or both. 

(3) Additional civil penalty. If any mer-
chandise, other than the equivalent of 
vessel sea stores, is imported or 
brought into the U.S. aboard an air-
craft which has failed to comply with 
the requirements prescribed by this 
section, the pilot of the aircraft shall 
be liable for a civil penalty equal to 
the value of the merchandise, and the 
merchandise may be seized and for-
feited, unless properly entered by the 
importer or consignee. 

§ 122.167 Aviation smuggling. 

(a) Civil penalties. Any aircraft pilot 
who transports, or any person on board 
any aircraft who possesses prohibited 
or restricted merchandise knowing, or 
intending, that the merchandise will be 
introduced into the U.S. contrary to 
law shall be subject to a civil penalty 
of twice the value of the merchandise 
involved, but not less than $10,000, as 
prescribed in section 590, Tariff Act of 
1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. 1590). Any 
aircraft used in connection with, or in 
aiding or facilitating, any violation of 
19 U.S.C. 1590, whether or not any per-
son is charged in connection with such 
violation, may be seized and forfeited 
in accordance with Customs laws. 

(b) Criminal penalties. Any aircraft 
pilot or person who intentionally vio-
lates 19 U.S.C. 1590 is, upon conviction, 
subject to the criminal penalties of a 
fine of not more than $10,000 or impris-
onment for not more than 5 years, or 
both, if none of the merchandise in-
volved is a controlled substance. More 
severe penalties are provided in 19 
U.S.C. 1590 if the smuggled merchan-
dise is a controlled substance. In such 
case, a violator is liable for a fine of 
not more than $250,000 or imprisonment 
for not more than 20 years, or both. 

(c) For purposes of imposing civil 
penalties under this section, any of the 
following acts, when performed within 
250 miles of the territorial sea of the 
United States, shall be evidence that 
the transportation or possession of 
merchandise was unlawful and shall in-
dicate that the purpose of the transfer 
was to make it possible for such mer-
chandise, or any part of it, to be intro-
duced into the U.S. unlawfully. For 
purposes of seizure and forfeiture, the 
following acts shall be evidence that an 
aircraft was used in connection with, 
or to aid or facilitate, a violation of 
this section; 

(1) The operation of an aircraft with-
out lights during such times as lights 
are required to be displayed under ap-
plicable law. 

(2) The presence on an aircraft of an 
auxiliary fuel tank which is not in-
stalled in accordance with applicable 
law. 

(3) The failure to correctly identify 
the aircraft by registration number 
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and country of registration, when re-
quested to do so by a customs officer or 
other government authority. 

(4) The external display of false reg-
istration numbers or false country of 
registration. 

(5) The presence on board of 
unmanifested merchandise, the impor-
tation of which is prohibited or re-
stricted. 

(6) The presence on board of con-
trolled substances which are not mani-
fested or which are not accompanied by 
the permits or licenses required under 
Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs 
or other international treaty. 

(7) The presence of any compartment 
or equipment which is built or fitted 
out for smuggling. 

Subpart R—Air Carrier Smuggling 
Prevention Program 

SOURCE: T.D. 91–25, 56 FR 12347, Mar. 25, 
1991, unless otherwise noted. 

§ 122.171 Description of program. 
The Air Carrier Smuggling Preven-

tion Program (ACSPP) is designed to 
enlist the cooperation of the air car-
riers, as defined in 19 U.S.C. 1584 note, 
in Customs efforts to prevent the 
smuggling of controlled substances. If 
carriers develop and implement thor-
ough and complete internal security 
procedures at ACSPP designated termi-
nals and foreign departure and inter-
mediate points, the opportunity for 
their conveyances being used for trans-
portation of controlled substances will 
be greatly reduced. Participation in 
the program is voluntary, and may be 
limited to specific routes. Should a 
controlled substance be introduced into 
the United States on a conveyance 
owned or operated by a participating 
carrier however, the carrier will be ex-
empt from seizure and penalties should 
it satisfy the provisions of § 122.175 of 
this part. The program will be oper-
ational for a period of 2 years from De-
cember 18, 1989, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. 
1584 note. 

§ 122.172 Eligibility. 
Any air carrier whose international 

flights arrive at, or depart from, any of 
the designated test airports, Miami 
International Airport, Dallas-Fort 

Worth International Airport, or Los 
Angeles International Airport, is eligi-
ble for participation in the ACSPP. 

§ 122.173 Application procedures. 

(a) Application. An air carrier which 
wishes to participate in the ACSPP 
shall submit an application to the As-
sistant Commissioner, Office of Field 
Operations, in which it: 

(1) Identifies specific routes and des-
ignated departure points and ACSPP 
airports for which application is made; 

(2) Certifies that it has developed and 
will continue to maintain standard op-
erating procedures (SOP) which are de-
signed to safeguard the integrity of its 
employees, cargo and conveyances. The 
application shall be accompanied by 
three (3) copies of the SOP developed 
by the air carrier. 

(b) Approval criteria. Upon receipt, 
each application will be reviewed to de-
termine whether the procedures con-
tained therein meet the requirements 
of the ACSPP. In determining whether 
a SOP submitted by an applicant car-
rier contains sufficient detail to assure 
the proper level of care and diligence 
required under the provisions of the 
ACSPP, the Assistant Commissioner, 
Office of Field Operations, will apply 
uniform standards and verify that, at a 
minimum, procedures are in place 
which: 

(1) Assure positive security back-
ground checks are performed on all 
carrier employees, both those em-
ployed within the United States and 
without, who have access to baggage, 
cargo or secure areas on participating 
routes, to the extent permitted by law; 

(2) Assure a system of positive bag-
gage and cargo identification is em-
ployed at all terminals used by the car-
rier; 

(3) Assure the carrier employs a sys-
tem to assure that no unmanifested 
cargo is placed on board the convey-
ance or brought into the United States 
on any of their conveyances; 

(4) Assure the carrier has specific 
procedures through which it will notify 
Customs should it discover any 
unmanifested or improperly manifested 
cargo on any of its conveyances or in 
any area subject to its control; 
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